
 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 1 

  
PRESENT 
Cllr. N. Hubbard,  Cllr. S. Steele, Cllr. C. Knight, Cllr. S. Reece, Cllr. M. Grindrod, Cllr. M. Dolbear 
IN ATTENDANCE 

             Cllr. K. Mans, Cllr. D. Poole, Mrs. R. Pearson, Mrs. N. Deering (Clerk) 
 
Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

2206 APOLOGIES Cllr. P. Fairweather  
 

2207 CHAIRMAN’S  
OPENING REMARKS  

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the September meeting.  Said it was a busy time, a lot is 
going on including a consultation on permitted development on which we will be making a 
representation. 

  

2208 DECLARATIONS OF 
INTEREST 

None.  

2209 MINUTES OF LAST 
MEETING  

Approval of July Minutes 
Proposed:  Cllr. Grindrod 
Seconded:  Cllr. Dolbear 
Motion carried unanimously. 

  

2210 REPRESENTATIVES’ 
REPORTS 

HCC 
Cllr. Mans said a meeting arranged to discuss budgets, which run on a two year cycle.  Due to 
circumstances having to use some of our reserves.  Said a lot of councils are heavily in debt.  HCC 
have balanced the books, but will be difficult.  Spending quite a lot of money on social services, 
changing and improving for the future.  Only had one school affected by lightweight concrete, 
which has now been fixed.   
Said still has money in his budget.  Chairman said you have been very generous in the past and we 
haven’t any projects at present.   
Cllr. Mans said he wished the department dealing with the environment would decide exactly what 
they want to do about recycling.  In rural areas like here it is very expensive.  Chairman said it 
needs more consultation on this.  Chairman asked how HCC are getting on with potholes, notice 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 2 

Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

work has been done mainly Lymington to Beaulieu Road, but there are areas that still need 
attention.  Cllr. Mans said they are making good progress, dependant on the weather.  It is a 
continuing programme, borrowed and had money from the government.  
New Forest District Council 
Cllr. Poole said the main issue is that we have brought to his attention is the proposed NFDC cost 
of waste bin emptying.  Cllr Hubbard said NFDC is proposing a cost of nearly £12,000 which we 
cannot afford.  Would have to double our precept which at present is £12,000.  Said we are a big 
tourist attraction for the New Forest.  Feels to us that it is not right, we have only 500 ratepaying 
residents that we would have to absorb this cost.  We are potentially faced with taking bins away 
and then there will be rubbish in streets, which would not look good for a popular tourist attraction 
in the New Forest, and could be a risk to ponies, donkeys etc. The Beaulieu Estate does a significant 
voluntary work towards litter collection.  Mrs. Pearson said they litter pick the Estate every 3 
weeks, 2 men, which would cost in excess of £3,000 per year, and helps with the costs of actual 
bins.  Cllr. Dolbear said a lot of the rubbish is eg McDonalds cartons, just thrown out of cars.  Is 
there a way they could help finance? Cllr. Poole said he would take our representation back to 
NFDC. Chairman said we had asked a question about how costs are being apportioned across all 
PCs and have not yet receive an answer from NFDC officer.  Mrs. Pearson said it would be fairer 
to go on the number of ratepayers across all parishes.  Chairman understood Lymington Times will 
be doing an article.   It was agreed Chairman to talk to Lymington Times. Mrs. Pearson asked how 
the Verderers and NP feel if we take bins away, causing more rubbish and risk to animals.  Cllr. 
Poole said as he is aware we are the only parish that he covers that is affected.  Chairman said he 
would approach Burley. He had already spoken to East Boldre which had not been contacted.  Said 
we would like a meeting with NFDC to discuss, Cllr. Poole agreed.  Chairman thanked Cllr. Poole 
for his support.  Cllr. Mans suggested checking the precept that other parishes are asking.  
Chairman said our precept for the year before last of £8,000 was one of the lowest in the DC area.  
Cllr. Steele said we are being asked to pay for taking other people’s rubbish away.  Cllr. Dolbear 
asked can we use another company instead of NFDC? Chairman expected the costs would be 
similar.  Cllr. Grindrod asked could we pay the Beaulieu Estate to do bins.  Mrs. Pearson said the 
Estate does not have the staff to do this. Mrs. Pearson said interesting to see what Verderers think 
and suggested we talk to Sue Westwood.  Cllr. Reece said when Cllr. Fairweather did a survey on 
bins, if no bins were available then visitors took their rubbish home.  Cllr. Steele said where are 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr. Poole 
 
 
Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman / 
Clerk 
 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 3 

Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

the 8 bins?  Cllr. Grindrod asked if we should discuss this at the Finance meeting., which was 
agreed.   
 
Cllr Poole said Brilliance in Business Awards are coming up, deadline 1st October.  Mentioned 
Save the New Forest Partnership, 412 surveys, 98.3% of residents remain satisfied of where they 
live = 405 residents.  Future events planned over the Autumn.  Also asking clerks of town parish 
councils to complete our Community Safe Survey.  Sending secondary schools an online Young 
People Survey.  Said our two new public space prohibits fires and petting of forest animals.  Said 
Community Safe team carried out checks, this is about education, not enforcement.  Sending out 
invitations for the 18th October to town and parish councils to join a meeting with the Communities 
Forum, to tackle the impact of the cost of living.  but have made it clear they are not going to 
change their decision.  Said he has a small councillor grant fund that you can apply for.   
Police 
‘Alert’ report received and circulated. 

2211 MATTERS ARISING • Off-site Cllr. Training. 
Chairman had discussed this with Cllr. Fairweather. The suggest that we need to get our 
new Standing Orders and Policies in place and then arrange training.  Remove from 
Matters Arising for the time being. 

• Actions on Repair/Playground items. 
Cllr. Grindrod said the playground is good.  Have the bark to pay for.  Looking for 
replacement netting, £600-£700, getting a quote from the Estate.  Field is good, no trip 
hazards.  Mrs. Pearson said John Nicholls did work to improve drainage in the field.  
Chairman thanked Mrs. Pearson.  Said gates need some attention, do not close properly and 
worried donkeys might get in, she will speak to Chris.   
Defib – Cllr. Steele said all fine, school now have their own and been trained.  Will arrange 
training for the village.  Said pads run out in July 2025, battery runs out April 2025, so no 
expenses. 

• Request date for next High Street Sweep from NFDC. 
Arranged for Monday 25th September, 6.30a.m.  Notice gone out. 

• Lodge Lane 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 4 

Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

Cllr. Reece said there are two bad places going towards Lodge Farm and over little bridge.  
On righthand side it falls away and as going towards Julia Brown’s its dangerous and only 
one side of the road is useable.  Needs serious attention, feels beyond repairing.  Said NF 
Fruit clearing the ditch regularly.  Feels needs to be rebuilt, would have to close road as 
quite narrow. Verges are a mess.  Chairman said approach HCC, understand Highways are 
under pressure.  Need to find out what needs to be done and the risks.  Take photos.  Mrs. 
Pearson said you can usually get Highways dept to come out.  Clerk to arrange arrange a 
meeting with Highways, Estate and Parish Council to ask Highways to do an initial survey 
of issues on the road as we feel it is dangerous, and could cause a significant accident.            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Clerk 

2211 PUBLIC 
PARTICIPATION 

Mrs. Pearson said Warren Lane will be closed 8-10th October, no access at all during the day.  One 
of two closures.  This is to repair the track where the lorry went into the ditch.  Will let emergency 
services know they need to go via Needs Ore. 

 

2212 CASUAL VACANCY Chairman said had 5 people had expressed an interest from which we have received 3 applications: 
George Richford, Jim Rowland and Kasia Lewis.  Agreed that Clerk will arrange interviews with 
each to which all councillors may attend if available. Agreed that each will be provided with key 
topics to discuss in advance, as per previous interviews. Discuss process how we interview them 
and select a successful candidate. 
 
Chairman reported that Cllr. Fairweather has indicated that he is minded to step down from the 
parish council at the next AGM. The Chairman recognised that Cllr Fairweather contributes a huge 
amount to the council but has competing activities including running his business and also his 
involvement in Beaulieu Village Hall. Agreed that if Cllr. Fairweather decides to stand down we 
would need to go through the normal vacancy process starting by notifying NFDC. It was noted 
that Cllr. Fairweather has two specific roles as Council Vice Chairman and also Chairman of the 
Finance & General Purposes Committee, both of which would need to be considered at the time. 

 

2213 COMMITTEE & 
REPRESENTATIVES 
REPORTS 

Planning Update. 
Cllr. Steele said we did not have a planning meeting last month. The only planning issue was in 
respect to the Piggery at Hazel Copse which was decided by email.  Application to vary Condition 
2 for the use of profiled metal sheeting, coated to have the coloured appearance of Anthracite with 

 
 
 
 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 5 

Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

a traditional curved profile. The proposed change was considered to be more in keeping with the 
adjacent listed barn. It was agreed that we would recommend PERMISSION for the reasons listed 
above, but would accept the decision reached by the National Park Authority’s Officers under their 
delegated powers.   

Cllr. Steele said the Chairman, Cllr. Dolbear and herself attended training and learnt there is a 
consultation about National changes in permitted development rights which it is proposed would 
include National Parks.  The consultation been going on since 23rd July and final day is coming 
Monday.  She also informed the Council that as we were alerted about these measures very late 
in the day we discussed them at an informal planning meeting attended by Rachel Pearson earlier 
in the week.  The National park are very concerned about the lack of exemption for National 
Parks which they fear will be detrimental to the Park’s planning regime.  Proposed measures to 
increase the stock of local more affordable housing.   What has been suggested is the right to 
convert farm buildings into residential properties, 150sq.m. done under the NP design guide and 
secondly to convert commercial/industrial properties into residential properties in High Streets.  
Locally we have a significant problem with affordable housing, a lot of farmers would like to 
provide accommodation on their farm for the next generation, similarly with commoners and 
with other people working in the area. Council considered part of this is about converting 
existing agricultural properties which will otherwise not be used into small dwellings. Cllr. 
Dolbear asked whether we know how if an agricultural tie can be applied to such a new dwelling. 
Mrs. Pearson suggested the applicant would have to prove agricultural need.  Chairman said this 
is about taking for instance a barn and converting it into small 1/2/3 bedroom dwellings which 
would better meet the parish’s current requirements.  Mrs. Pearson said there are a lot of 
agricultural buildings that have been empty for 40 years, as there is no alternative use for them 
and that we have got to the stage where something has to be done to free up these properties 
specifically to support entry-level accommodation. After further discussion Council agreed that it 
was largely in support of the Government’s proposals for redundant agricultural buildings and 
commercial high street properties in view of the serious local shortage of affordable housing. As 
we had only recently been made aware of the consultation, we were not left with adequate time to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 6 

Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

complete the full consultation but would submit a letter generally in support of the changes for 
the reasons explained above. 

Proposed:  Cllr. Grindrod                          Seconded:  Cllr. Dolbear. 
All in favour. 
 
Speedwatch – Cllr. Grindrod said they are continuing to carry these out.  40-50 cars stopped last 
time. 
 
Twinning Garden – Cllr. Reece said rota working well. Suggested when annual plants have come 
to the end of their season to start replacing them with shrubs. Reported round elder continues to be 
a problem.  Cllr. Steele feels we need to get more locals involved.  Cllr. Reece said if everyone is 
in agreement she would arrange purchase of shrubs.  This was agreed, subject to ensuring the 
Beaulieu Twinning Association are fully involved.  
 

   
 

 

2214 FINANCE Monthly report circulated. 
Motion to approve bank payments. 
£140.00   Paul Deakin 
£45.00     Beaulieu Village Hall Trust 
£550.00   Clerk’s Salary 
£107.50  Ashdown Software 
 
Motion to note the following previously approved payments made in the month: 
Balance of CCTV replacement of £1,611.00 
£40.00 Standing order for Data Protection Act 
 
Proposed:  Cllr.  Dolbear            Seconded:  Cllr. Knight 

 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 7 

Minute 
Ref  

      Action  

Motion carried unanimously.  

 
 
 
 
 

 Grants – We can now submit the police grant application for CCTV,  Need to open account and 
sort this, so we can claim the money back. 
 
Beaulieu Common Good Trust – Chairman said he and Cllr. Steele are both trustees of the BCGT. 
Because of its size it’s now having to register as a charity with the Charity Commission.  That 
brings in other regulations to us as trustees including conflicts of interest.  We had both reflected 
on this and going forward considered, that whilst we would pursue grants from organisations for 
relevant and specific purposes (eg the recent CCTV grant) it is unlikely that the BPC would request 
a grant from any charity including the BCGT. If we have a funding issue this should be addressed 
through the Precept. If there was a project like the Twinning Garden seat (which the BCGT did 
provide us with a grant) it would likely be a project that someone else in the community would be 
better placed to run.  Cllr. Steele said this would leave more charitable funds for organisations and 
people in the village who need it.  

Chairman / 
Clerk 

2215 CORRESPONCE  Pageant Master – D Day Celebrations and lighting beacons, 6th June 2024.  Mrs. Pearson said the 
Estate will organise and has told them.  Letter suggests we have fish and chips to get into the World 
War 2 them,  and coucil was unsure how this might be provided, maybe ask the Montagu Arms.   
CIL Grants – will look at this. 
Solent Together Hampshire – re solar panels, will put on notice board. 
Community Grants which Cllr. Poole mentioned, covering well being, mental health, disability and 
recreation, both revenue and capital grants.  Clerk to circulate. 
On line survey from Safer New Forest – NFDC annual survey.   

 

2216 FUTURE MEETINGS Cllr. Steele said Angy Lewis asked to remind everyone about Victorian Christmas on 25th 
November – marshalls needed. 
Cllr. Reece said at the CDA meeting she mentioned verge parking.  Reported and gone to Mr. 
Norton, the new Chair.  Spoke to Charlotte and Holly about verge parking and speeding within our 
parish. Said Jilly Jones who is NF Awareness Group, talked of potential speed reduction across 
our area to 30mph.  Will apparently be in the Lymington Times.  Said Furzey Lane verge parking 
has got worse.  One property has a skip with no permit as on the forest.  

 



 BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21ST SEPTEMBER 2023 

 8 

 
 
Meeting closed at 8.50p.m. 
Date of Next  
Meeting – Thursday 19th October 2023 
  
 


